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ENCLOSURE

NOTICE OF VIOLATION
.

Carolina Power and Light Company Docket Nos. 50-325 and 50-324
Brunswick-1 and 2 License Nos. DPR-71 and DPR-62

The . following violations were identified during an inspection conducted on
July 1-31, 1985. The Severity Level was assigned in accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy (10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C).

1. 10 CFR 50 Appendix B, Criterion XVI, as implemented by FSAR Section 17.2.16,
Corrective Action, requires measures be established to assure that

*
conditions adverse to quality (i.e., deficiencies) are promptly identified
and corrected. Technical Specification 6.8.1.c requires that the licensee
maintain and implement procedures specified in Reg. Guide 1.33, November
1972. Item " E" o f the guide requires that procedures for correcting
abnormal, offnormal or alarm conditions be implemented.

Contrary to the above, a condition adverse to quality was not adequately
corrected in that most annunciator procedures which required changes,
necessitated by the introduction of Emergency Operating and Abnormal
Operating Procedures and the elimination of the Emergency Instructions, were
not updated and corrected or an alternate means adequately provided to
clarify reference discrepancies contained in the procedures.

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement I).

2. 10 CFR 50 Appendix B, Criterion V, as implemented by FSAR Section 17.2.5,
requires activities affecting quality be accomplished in accordance with
drawings.

Contrary to the above, activities affecting quality were not accomplished in
accordance with drawings in that control rod drive hydraulic control units
on Unit 2 were not installed per drawing. Four units were found with loose
bolting and one unit had 2 out of 4 rack-support-to-foundation bolts
missing.

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement I).

Pursuant to 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to this office within thirty
days of the date of this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply,
including: (1) admission or denial of the alleged violations; (2) the reasons
for the violations if admitted; (3) the corrective steps which have been taken
and the results achieved; (4) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid
further violations; and (5) the date when full compliance will be achieved.
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Carolina Power and Light Company 2 Docket Nos. 50-325 and 50-324
Brunswick Units 1 and 2 License Nos. DPR-71 and DPR-62

Security or safeguards information should be submitted as an enclosure to
facilitate withholding it from public disclosure as required by 10 CFR 2.790(d)
or 10 CFR 73.21.

Date: AUG 131985


